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To my grandad









PROLOGUE


‘Britain stands on the brink of exciting democratic change. Just over a week from now, the polling stations will go up, the voters will come out, and our biggest cities will vote yes or no to having their own mayor. Let’s be clear what this moment means. It’s not some trivial re-structure or fiddling about . . . It’s a once-in-a-generation chance to change the way our country is run. I passionately want those cities – from Bristol to Birmingham, Nottingham to Newcastle, Sheffield to Wakefield – to give a resounding, emphatic “yes” next week.’


In April 2012, I was sitting in the audience at the Marriott Hotel, across the green from Bristol City Hall, listening to the then Conservative prime minister, David Cameron, outline his vision for the future of local government. At the time, the idea of a city having a directly elected mayor was a relatively new concept in the UK. Tony Blair’s New Labour manifesto of 1997 had promised an elected mayor for London. This led to Ken Livingstone becoming mayor in 2000, running initially as an independent. That same year, the Local Government Act paved the way for cities across the country to hold referendums to discover if the local electorate wanted directly elected mayors. In 2011, following the election of the Conservative–Liberal Democrat coalition, the Localism Act took this one stage further, allowing central government to trigger such local referendums themselves. In Spring 2012, ten such votes were taking place: in Birmingham, Bradford, Coventry, Leeds, Manchester, Newcastle, Nottingham, Sheffield, Wakefield . . . and my home city of Bristol.


The argument for and against directly elected mayors swings back and forth across the political spectrum, and also between politicians on a local and national level according to how it impacts their status as councillors and MPs. In 2012, Cameron seemed to have plenty of backing for the idea: ‘Next month’s referendums offer Britain’s cities the chance to try a new approach,’ The Telegraph wrote. ‘We urge them to seize it.’ ‘Opponents fear that mayors are intended to push radical reform,’ The Economist argued. ‘They are right: that is why mayors are a good idea.’ By contrast, when a second Bristol referendum over directly elected mayors took place in 2022, the local Conservatives campaigned against it.


But locally, across the political spectrum, views were mixed: Labour and the Lib Dems were officially neutral, though they had campaigners on both sides. Stephen Williams, the Liberal Democrat MP for Bristol West, was considering running. Barbara Janke, the Lib Dem council leader, observed that ‘quite a few’ American mayors had been corrupt. ‘The municipal establishment broadly opposes elected mayors,’ The Economist noted. As for my own party, Labour, opinions were also split. Alderman Bill Martin led the ‘no’ campaign, claiming they were part of a plot to privatize services: a Conservative mayor would be able to pass decisions even though they were a minority on the council.


I was at the Marriott as a potential Labour candidate if the ‘yes’ vote won. Lawrence Hill councillor Marg Hickman had recently encouraged me to run if Bristol decided it wanted a mayor. I hadn’t really thought much about UK mayors before, but I’d studied American politics as part of my degree back in the 1990s and had seen how big cities like Chicago and New York had benefitted from having someone championing their cause and that they could provide an opportunity for people and voices from outside the political establishment to have influence. When I was studying in America, I’d spent time with David Berg, a professor of psychology, who became something of a mentor to me and we’d stayed in touch. He was good friends with Howard Dean, who’d run for the Democrat nomination for US president in 2004. Dean hadn’t won, but his use of internet fundraising and grassroots organization was hugely influential. Aware of my political interests, David mentioned to me that Howard had once told him that it was much better to be a governor in American politics than a senator: put simply, you got to make things happen and make your mark. David continued, ‘I think it would be a better fit for you. You’d find executive politics more fulfilling than legislative politics. I think you’d enjoy it more.’


His intervention stuck in my mind, even after I returned to the UK. When Labour declared that the selection for Bristol West would be an all-women shortlist, it seemed to rule out any opportunity for me to represent the place where I grew up. But when the possibility of Bristol having a directly elected mayor came up, and with Marg’s encouragement, it felt as though the stars had realigned. I took part in the ‘yes’ campaign during the referendum, not as a player but by helping and handing out leaflets. On one particularly embarrassing afternoon, I agreed to be driven around the streets of Clifton with a megaphone to urge people to vote yes. I crouched as low as I could with just the speaker poking out of the open window to try to maintain my anonymity.


Cameron’s plans were ambitious but never fully came to fruition. He talked of creating a ‘cabinet’ of mayors across the UK who would meet twice a year under his chairmanship. Tapping into the ability of cities to deliver and boost the economy was the right idea. The problem with his scheme was that out of the ten cities holding a referendum, there would only be one city who voted for a directly elected mayor: my own. On a turnout of 24 per cent, the ‘yes’ campaign would win by 53 per cent to 47 per cent.


That day at the Marriott, the potential candidates were jockeying for position. George Ferguson, a local architect and businessman notable for his trademark red trousers, was there. He was a former Liberal councillor and parliamentary candidate but was planning to stand as an independent. Also present were Liberal Democrats, Conservatives and the other potential Labour nominees. They were all far more experienced politicians than me: both current and former councillors, already busy with their own campaigns, resources and teams.


I was all too aware of the views people in that room would likely have of me. To be honest, I carried those same perceptions within my own insecurities. But I also carried a belief that I had something to offer the city and the role. I had David Berg’s words ringing in my ears, and similar encouragement from Deborah Evans, my CEO, and Christina Gray, my manager at the NHS, where I was working in public health. My CV, I had to admit, did not make me sound like the standout candidate. I was a health service manager, band eight. Before that, I’d spent five frustrating years as a BBC broadcast journalist: despite my best efforts, I just couldn’t get on in the organization and I ended up resigning. I was later told that when it was announced I was standing to be mayor, my candidacy was met with laughter and incredulity among my former colleagues in the BBC Bristol newsroom.


As I entered the hotel, my overwhelming feelings were acute self-consciousness and defiance. I felt like an imposter. I knew I didn’t belong there. But I was always going to run. From a young age, I have had a peculiar mix of insecurity and self-belief. In a glamorous hotel, among the prime minister and his entourage, rival candidates and the bright lights of the media, I felt like something of an inconvenient and awkward gatecrasher. Although I was certain I would be seen as a nobody when it came to their idea of politics, I knew I could hold my own when it came to understanding Bristol and how the city should be run. But glad-handing and working a room wasn’t something I felt comfortable with – and never have. I took my seat to listen to Cameron’s speech.


Once the presentations had finished, the jockeying to get an interview with the media began. It was the smart thing for prospective candidates to do, to get yourself an early bit of publicity to push your profile and cause. But all the other candidates had the same idea. When it comes to photographs, I’ve never mastered – and I haven’t sought to master – the skill of pushing my way to the front and centre: I’m often the one at the side. Here, this meant that I was well down the line. With a swish of his red trousers, George Ferguson was quick to offer his opinions to the waiting journalists, who lapped him up in equal measure; my rivals for the Labour nomination were also ahead of me. I joined the queue and waited my turn.


At least Paul Barltrop, the BBC Bristol political correspondent covering the story, knew who I was, having recognized me from my time there. I continued to wait while the others were interviewed, but just as I was about to get my turn, he was called away.


‘Sorry Marv,’ he said. ‘I’ve got to go off and interview David Cameron. I’ll be back to do you in a moment.’


‘Of course,’ I said. ‘I’ll be here.’


Around me, the room was emptying. The rival candidates, who’d all given their interviews, were grabbing their stuff and heading off. Around me, hotel workers started to stack up the chairs. Up on the stage, I heard a ‘pfft’ as the sound system was switched off: the microphones were packed away, the leads unplugged, and the speakers lifted down from their stands. The clean-up of the room continued, workers saying ‘excuse me’ as they scurried past with their hands full of equipment. I continued to wait for the BBC journalist to return.


Finally, with the room almost empty, Paul came back. But as soon as he saw me, he shook his head.


‘Sorry Marv,’ he said. ‘Everything’s run over. I’ve got to get back to the newsroom. Maybe next time, yeah?’


And with that, he was off and out the door. I stood there for a moment, the clank of a sound system being dismantled behind me. I felt small. I felt belittled and humiliated. In my attempt to take the first step to getting elected, I came face to face with the fact I knew to be true, that I wasn’t considered by the mainstream to be a serious candidate, not even worth an interview.


But I still knew I had something to offer. While I had never been indifferent to these sorts of slights, I had also learned the habit of not letting them stop me. Let’s see what happens, I whispered to myself. It was a mantra that I’d been drawing on ever since I was a young boy. Life had thrown its fair share of trials at me over the years. And when it did, and others put me down, that’s what I’d say to myself.


Let’s see what happens.


That moment in the emptying hall was difficult to take. But I’d faced worse before, and although it wasn’t welcome at the time, I had learned to always come back stronger. This was just the latest in a long line of challenges, a line that went all the way back to my early childhood.









1.


Early Years


I was born in Bristol in 1972, the mixed-race child of a white mother and a Black father.


My mum was born in Bristol in 1948, my nan and grandad’s third and youngest child. My nan was the first of ten children and came from a large Bristol family called the Bryers, while my grandad was from Merthyr Tydfil in South Wales. His dad, known as Tally bach – Little Tally – was a Welsh miner, a little over five foot, but his mum came over to South Wales from Ireland. They were poor, genuinely poor – a tiny house with an outside toilet and all the rest of it. My great-grandfather swore his children would never go down the mines, so my grandad moved to England to look for work. He found himself in Bristol, where he met my nan at a dance in Old Market. My nan always remembered that it was his teeth, nice and white, that caught her eye.


Growing up, Mum, her sister Glenys and brother Terry moved between Bristol and Merthyr as my grandad followed work and sought family support. Mum always says that she moved to Merthyr with an English accent and came back to Bristol with a Welsh one, which caused her trouble at both ends. Money was extremely tight. Once, they got a lift to Merthyr with the children under a cover in the back of a flatbed truck. When they got there, they didn’t have anywhere to stay and ended up living in a semi-derelict cottage in Cefn Coed. They weren’t supposed to be there, so they’d make themselves scarce during the day, and sneak back under cover of darkness every evening. Eventually, my nan and grandad saved enough to be able to afford a house in Bristol’s Armoury Square, which they borrowed £500 to buy. Funnily enough, my nan always told me the house had belonged to someone called Alderman Ross, a former Lord Mayor of Bristol.


My grandad was a clever man. His exam results were, apparently, up on the wall of his old school, Cyfarthfa Castle, because he got top marks. My nan told me all this because Grandad didn’t talk about himself much unless it was about his days playing in Merthyr Rugby Club’s front row. Nan told me he’d won a prize for his exam results but was too ashamed to go up and claim it because his second-hand uniform was so raggedy that his fellow pupils made fun of him.


He should have gone to university but he couldn’t afford it. Years later, he discovered that he could have applied for a scholarship, but no one had ever mentioned it, so he had never applied. By the time he found out what might have been the moment had gone. He became a bus conductor but never rose through the ranks. I don’t know if it was a lack of confidence or if his background had ground his potential out of him, but he never had the career he deserved. When I went to university – and a Welsh university at that: Swansea – he couldn’t have been prouder. I was the first in my family to pursue higher education, and when I graduated, it felt like the best present I could give him. My nan told me he lived his dreams through me.


I was very close to my grandad, and it was through him I inherited my love of rugby. We lived one street apart so I would go round and watch the Five Nations Championship, as it was then, on the TV with him. He would have all the curtains drawn and the 14-inch TV almost at full volume. And rugby or no rugby, I’d go and stay with Nan and Grandad every weekend, either on a Friday or Saturday night. Nan would watch Starsky & Hutch with me while Grandad went for his pint at the Bus Club near the bus depot on Lawrence Hill Roundabout or the Waggon and Horses on Stapleton Road – which was one of the pubs used to film the TV sitcom Only Fools and Horses. When he got back at around 10.30 p.m., we’d take his dog, Ziggy, for a walk. I used to love those late-night walks and conversations.


My nan worked at a department store called Brights, though she’d also worked in a greengrocer’s, baker’s and at Bristol’s Concorde Cinema. She was a source of great strength and stability for me. She was also a fighter and wouldn’t shy away from a row when it mattered. In the 1960s, she fostered the son of a Nigerian doctor. Nan had an open-house arrangement, and Lawrence was one of a number of people she took in over the years. A white woman with a Black child at the time led to derogatory comments and Nan being spat at. But she gave back as good as she got in return.


It frustrated me, however, that Nan always showed such deference to professional people, such as doctors, as though they were better than her. I guess it was down to something within her, but it was rooted in her working-class background. She always wanted to give them gifts to thank them for whatever they were doing for her, which used to make me really cross. I felt it was because she felt herself to be lower than them. She was giving money away to people who were doing their jobs, even though they were paid far more money than her. I’d say, ‘Nan, they’re not better than you.’ That early belief became a key driver when I went into politics: whether it was individuals or institutions, I’d decided to leave any sense of inferiority at the door.


My dad is from St Thomas in Jamaica. He also had a tough upbringing, albeit in a different way. His mum, my grandmother Lilian, was very hard. My grandfather, William, had lots of children with different women – as my father would also go on to do. The result is that I’ve got a lot of aunts and uncles: some of whom I’m close to, but many others I’ve never met.


William went to the US and that side of the family, the Walkers, are very close-knit. And successful too – one uncle was in banking; a cousin works for the US Department of Agriculture while others are entrepreneurs. There are a lot of high-flyers in my paternal family. I first met them when I went to the US as a nineteen-year-old to participate in Camp America. That was the first time I’d seen my grandfather. It was a big moment for me. I’d say my soul stirred. He stared at me, wide-eyed, in silence. And then, finally, in his strong Jamaican patois, he said, ‘If me did see you pon de street, me’d never even know you was mine.’ Those words are all I have of him.


At the same time as William went to the States, my grandmother and my father came to the UK. They went to London first, then moved to Bristol. My father met my mother at one of the dances that Jamaicans and other West Indians used to hold in St Pauls at places like the legendary Bamboo Club run by Tony Bullimore. Bullimore was a larger-than-life businessman who helped to break down racial barriers in the city. The club welcomed both the Black and white communities at a time when many pubs and clubs were closed to Black people. It also brought in an amazing range of acts: Bob Marley and Tina Turner played there. The Bamboo was a place people went to for the atmosphere, the music and the dancing.


When my mum became pregnant with me, she was advised not to go through with the pregnancy. The health workers took one look at this unmarried twenty-two-year-old white woman with a Black boyfriend and Brown baby on the way and told her that if she were a good woman, she should consider having an abortion. After I was born, the pressure to give me up continued. This was real-life Cathy Come Home culture and attitudes.


When asked about the things that shaped me and made my politics, I used to go to my own experiences of growing up poor and mixed race in a city where race and class inequality and hostility were entrenched. But increasingly, I have realized that my mum’s experiences have motivated me. I was thinking about it recently and reflected that it wasn’t just about me being mixed race, but also about my mother’s social standing. That people believed they had the moral authority to say she shouldn’t be a mother and what she needed to do to be a ‘good’ woman – my mum had to carry that. Fortunately, that prejudice wasn’t the only voice in the room – another health worker who was there stuck up for her. ‘You leave her alone,’ she said. ‘The Bryers take care of their children.’


I got the name Marvin after Lee Marvin – when my mum was in labour, she could hear in the background ‘Wand’rin’ Star’, the song from the film Paint Your Wagon. Lee Marvin’s character was a red-faced drunk. When I was born, I had a red face too, so the name stuck. Despite that one supportive health worker, with whom my mum recently reconnected, she found herself having to do things the hard way. More helpful ‘advice’ came her way. Now she was told that she should give me up for adoption.


I love my dad. He is my father and I know he had it tough as a child, especially as a newly arrived teen migrant surviving and navigating 1960s England. But he wasn’t there at my birth and nor was he around much in a practical way. He wasn’t the father I longed for when I was growing up. That absence has left me with a sense of vulnerability I have always carried, and the belligerent resilience I developed to overcome it.


My mum first lived in City Road, in a house with multiple occupants. It was one of the few places that would take her as a white woman with a Brown baby in 1972. Like so many, she fell foul of the ‘No Irish, No Blacks, No Dogs’ rental practices of the time. Moving there wasn’t easy – a number of Black women who lived in the area didn’t like who she was. They saw her as a white woman taking a Black man and harassed her as a result. Sometimes, that got physical. One of my early memories is of her in a fight after a woman attacked her. I was about three. My mum smashed a bottle and cut her hand. In our family album, there is a photo of my mum with bandaged fingers. It’s a picture that always speaks to the vulnerability I felt in her.


Mum’s situation wasn’t helped by my father. He was well known in Bristol, which meant that everyone also knew who she was. And he had children with other women as well. After me, there was Natasha, who had a different mother, my sister Dionne with mum, then Martin and Leon with Pauline, then Haley with yet another woman. Then there’s Shamira, whose mother is Angela, and Carleon whose mother is Sue. Beyond my full sister Dionne, none of my siblings were introduced to me by my dad.


Early on, my mum went round to see Pauline and said to her, ‘It’s not the children’s fault.’ Their relationship was made possible by the fact that both Mum and Pauline had become Christians. The two of them became close and Pauline was soon like a second mum to me. Martin and Leon would spend a lot of time around my house while I was growing up, too: when Pauline went into hospital to have Leon, Martin stayed with us. The four of us – me, Dionne, Martin and Leon – were close.


I came across my other brothers and sisters later. When Leon became manager of Foot Locker in town, he once spotted a mixed-race girl standing outside, looking in and staring at him. Leon was getting ribbed by his friends – ‘She’s checking you out, man’ – when she walked in and asked, ‘Are you Leon Walker?’ When he said yes, she replied, ‘I’m your sister.’ On another occasion, when I was about twenty-four, Martin came round to my mum’s house, bringing a three-year-old mixed-race child with him. ‘This is our brother, Carleon,’ he said. I shrugged and said, ‘Come in.’ It wasn’t a surprise to discover I had another sibling. We loved him straight away.


I had a complicated relationship with my dad growing up. My mum told me about his background and how hard it had been, adding that he could be a good man and that he did love me. But he wasn’t around when he should have been, and when he was, not in the way we needed. When he did turn up to play football or cricket in Rawnsley Park near my house with my friends, it was always quite the show. He was a great athlete, and I would be torn between being proud of him and conflicted when it made me see what I was missing the rest of the time. I felt safe when he was around but there was always tension when he turned up at home. I resented him for assuming he could walk in and take the status of the man of the house when he hadn’t, as I saw it, put the time in.


At the same time, his reputation in our community could be useful. I used to have a pair of ice skates – Bauer Turbos – and one time on the bus back from town, this other kid decided he liked the look of them. Now, I wasn’t a weak kid. I was reasonably athletic. But I wasn’t tough or bad and so this particular kid, who was a bit of both, decided I was fair game. He asked me if he could have a look at my ice skates, and not thinking anything of it, like a fool I handed them over. At which point, he took the skates and said, ‘I’m keeping these.’


The way boys worked, it was down to me to initiate the fight with the kid to get the skates back. I fancied my chances. He was older but all mouth and I was boxing at the time; I thought he was a noisy fool. But I could see a few other kids on the bus who knew me, and I saw the opportunity to make another kind of statement. So I didn’t take the bait but said ‘OK’ and smiled and rang the bell to get off at the next stop with the aim of going to my dad’s. One of the older boys, whose family, like my dad’s, was part of Bristol’s tight-knit Jamaican network, went over and whispered in his ear. I saw his expression change. ‘Have your skates, man,’ he said, handing them back.


A lot of people liked my father, but others less so. There were always stories floating around about what he had or hadn’t done. On the occasions he’d pick me up and take me out, we’d go to any number of older Jamaican family houses where they’d welcome us in and give us food. I came to see these women as the local matriarchs. People like Mrs Wynters and Mrs Davis were our pioneers: I continue to have huge respect for what these women of the Windrush generation had to overcome as they sought to make homes for their families and establish our communities.


My father’s life was a hustle. For him and so many others, it had to be. His experiences even ended up in a book by Ken Pryce, published in 1979. Endless Pressure was a ground-breaking investigation into the effects of racism and discrimination on West Indians living in the St Pauls area of Bristol. The book describes the ‘endless pressure’ of racism on daily life and the lengths people had to go to to keep it together. I faced my challenges, but to be Black in 1960s and 1970s Bristol was another level.


My father was primarily a businessman, owning a shop and a nightclub called Crystal Dove that was particularly well known. It was on the corner of Grosvenor Road and St Nicholas Road. While other nightclubs would close at 2 a.m., Dad’s club would carry on into the small hours. He had a pool table there which was available during the day, and I used to work there every Saturday from the age of fourteen. I’d do everything from sorting the change for the pool tables to flipping burgers. But while my dad owned all these businesses, I never remember him having a house of his own for me to go to. He could have done – he was often cash rich and houses in the St Pauls district of Bristol were cheap. But he seemed to prefer having a room here, a place to stay there, always ready to move on.


He treated being a parent the same way. He was around and then he wasn’t. Although he lived nearby, there were periods when I didn’t see him for what seemed like months. Then he’d suddenly reappear as a big presence and show off his football and cricket skills in front of my friends. That’s my dad, I’d think, swelling with pride.


Once, when I was about eight, he turned up at the house having been in a fight. He was covered in cuts and bruises. I was in bed when he arrived, and I remember hearing the shock in my mum’s voice when she saw him: ‘What happened?’ He shrugged it off – ‘It’s nothing’ – and came up to see me. I pretended to be asleep, but he sat down on the bed and put his hand on my head. That wasn’t the only time I heard about him being involved in fights. Another time someone said to me, ‘Your dad is a serious man.’ And we both knew what he meant. Growing up, I was proud of him for that. The Bristol of the time could be a tough, violent place and that Windrush generation had to be able to take care of things.


One evening I was at home watching the local news when my dad’s name flashed up on screen. The police were looking for him because, apparently, he had beaten someone up. It was a local rivalry between him and this other guy. Years later, a police officer told me that he was glad my father had done it because the rival was a real troublemaker. When I got to school the next day, everyone had seen it. Marvin, man, your dad was on TV last night! To be honest, I felt good about the attention, not to mention the fact he’d won!


While he didn’t seem to have a home, what my dad did have was a car that he was really proud of – a beige Jaguar, Arthur Daley-style. He had two doves that he kept in the car that would sit looking out of the back window. Despite the crime rate in the area at the time, my dad made a show of never locking it. It was a point of principle: everyone knew who he was, so he knew they would leave it alone.


That said, there was the time he left a video camera on the back seat and it got stolen.


I was fifteen then and one of my mates told me they thought they knew who’d done it. It was another boy from school. He was in a posse – and a serious one at that. Most of the kids in it were two to three years older than me. I wasn’t in anything, but still got it in my head I had to do something about it. It seems crazy thinking about it now, but I went to this kid’s house to confront him. But when I knocked on his door, his mum answered instead. He wasn’t in, so I told her why I was there: ‘I think he’s taken my dad’s camera.’ His mum gave me a look, and said, ‘I don’t know anything about that.’ I’m sure she didn’t, but I still told her, ‘He needs to bring it back.’ I then went looking for him in one of the pool halls.


While I was risking my neck for him, it transpired my dad had found out who had actually taken the camera. He’d tracked it down to a basement club in St Pauls – the sort of place where most people would be afraid to go. Another school friend of mine happened to be in the area and told me what happened. My father had sauntered down into the club with one of his doves atop his finger. He’d then emerged five minutes later, the dove still perched on one hand and the video camera in his other.


None of which helped me. It quickly got back to the kid I’d accused that I’d been looking for him. Now he and his people were looking for me. I was told they were going to beat me up. With sticks, one friend warned me. For the rest of the week, I stayed on my side of Easton. There was a dual carriageway between where he and I lived. As long as I stayed on my side of it, I reasoned, I should be OK.


Come Saturday, however, it was the norm for everyone to head up into town. I decided I couldn’t hide for ever and had to go in. Sure enough, it wasn’t long before I ran into this kid and his people. My heart sank. It was a bright, sunny day, and I remember my mind racing as he came up to me. I stood my ground in an effort to suggest I wasn’t afraid. There was a pause while I braced myself for the verbal threats and first punch. Instead, he said, ‘All right, Marv?’


‘All right?’ I replied, feeling anything but. The moment, though, was defused. Inside, I breathed a huge sigh of relief. It was high-stakes stuff for a fifteen-year-old.


I never told my dad that I’d gone looking for his camera. But three years later, when I was eighteen, I did speak to him properly. My life was moving on: I had been invited to Lympstone to take the Royal Marines Potential Officers Course, had completed my A Levels and had offers from universities. I decided the time was right to confront him. Over the years, I’d built up a lot of sadness and anguish towards him, from all the times he’d let me, my sister and mum down – there is a level of resentment and antagonism that can only be found in relationships with those you deeply love. Finally, I felt old enough, strong enough, confident enough to take him on.


‘I’ve done it – I don’t need you any more,’ I told him. ‘You’ve never done much for me. I’m the one who is going to look after Mum now. You don’t need to worry about us no more.’


I could feel the anger coursing through me as I spoke, and I wondered how he was going to respond. Growing up, he’d been a disciplinarian – by which I mean, step out of line and you could get a ‘beatin’. ‘That’s how you discipline kids in Jamaica,’ he’d tell me. I always resented it – as far as I was concerned, he couldn’t just turn up and start disciplining me like that. It didn’t happen often but because I didn’t want the threat to become real, I’d do what I was told. All the time, the resentment was building up.


Hitting eighteen, I had years of frustration inside me, and that evening, it all came out. My father stared at me. I could see he wasn’t happy and didn’t seem to know what to do or say. He didn’t respond. How could he? He knew what I said was true and there is great power in that kind of truth. He couldn’t come back. And neither would our relationship, for many decades.


Perhaps unsurprisingly, with all the challenges she faced, Mum struggled with depression. Which was part of the reason why, when I was three, we moved to a refuge – Bystock, in Exmouth. We moved there in secret with only Nan and Grandad knowing where we would be. The day the social worker put us on the train at Temple Meads, even Mum didn’t know where she was going. The social worker got on with us to explain what to do when we got off at Exeter. She took so long explaining, that the train started moving while she was still on board. Although life was tough, it was all Mum could do not to laugh.


Bystock was an old stately home and an incredible place for a child. I call it a refuge but those running it saw it as a community in which residents supported one another. We had a bedsit main room and a separate kitchen, which smelt of gas. The children who lived there would knock on one another’s doors in the morning and we’d wander the spacious halls or head off into the grounds. There was a very special older man there called Dougy, who wove baskets in a workshop on the estate. I still remember the smell of that place and him taking me for walks. He was like a real-life Father Christmas.


Whenever we left the estate to head into town, I’d look at the suburban houses and see everything I longed for but didn’t have: safety, stability, security. To that list of things I wanted, I would add whiteness. I was aware of my brown skin very early on and understood, even before I had the words to describe it, that whiteness gave access to a world not accessible to Black and Brown people. All the successful people I saw in life and on TV were white.


On my birthday, the other residents gave me a book: Hilda Boswell’s Omnibus: A Treasury of Favourites. It’s a collection of short stories, poems and abridged tales. The book is one of my oldest possessions and I can’t open it without experiencing a mixture of hope and vulnerability, a wish that I could reach back from where I am today and tell my mum it was going to be all right.


One poem in particular captured a mood that shadowed my childhood: ‘Foreign Lands’ by Robert Louis Stevenson. The accompanying illustration is of a boy who has climbed a tree and is looking over some cottages and a stream to the green hills in the distance.


If I could find a higher tree,


Farther and farther I should see,


To where the grown-up river slips


Into the sea among the ships,


To where the roads on either hand


Lead onward into fairy land . . .


As a child, I wanted to be that boy. Firstly, he was white, which meant he had access to the security I wanted in my life. Secondly, there was an open expanse of land and sky in front of him. Later, when I moved into the physical confines of the Long Cross estate in Lawrence Weston and the emotional limbo of my teenage years, the openness of that poem came to represent the escape I wanted in my life. I still feel connected to it even today.


In 2017, there was a reunion at Bystock. I took my children and tried to explain to them the safety and hope the place encapsulated for me. The house and grounds were significantly smaller than I remembered them and the land that had sat on either side of the country road leading up to the main house had been developed for houses. Nevertheless, returning there touched me deeply.


One image that stands out from my childhood is standing at a bus stop in the dark with my mum, my sister Dionne in the pushchair, waiting for the bus to take us home. I didn’t feel scared, stood there. But I did feel vulnerable – both for myself and for my mum and sister – and very aware of us waiting there in the cold while others drove past on their way home in warm cars.


In 1976 we returned from Bystock and moved into a flat on the Long Cross estate in Lawrence Weston, on the edge of Bristol: later, we’d move to Easton. The flat was a long way from my nan’s, so we used to stay with her every weekend. The return journey was usually around a forty-five-minute bus journey along Stapleton Road, through the city centre, over the Downs, through Sea Mills, down Kings Weston Lane and along Long Cross to 1 Humberstan Walk. Now and again, one of my nan’s neighbours, Joe, who was also a close family friend, would drive us back in his light blue Ford Cortina. I remember him taking us on one occasion and I pretended to be asleep. Joe carried me into the flat through the cold, dark evening air. I’m sure he wasn’t fooled by my acting and must have known I was awake. I was only about five but I can still remember how safe I felt in the warm car. I knew the safety was temporary and hoped that if I stayed asleep, they might turn around and take us back to Nan’s house.


I couldn’t escape that sense of financial and physical vulnerability as a child, of money being tight – that sense of a lack of support or safety net. I remember Mum being worried a lot. It rippled through our lives in all sorts of small ways. Sometimes, we didn’t have much food in the house. And there were times we had little in the way of drinks. There was water if we were thirsty. But a squash or Ribena felt like a luxury of the good times.


The vulnerability was exacerbated by the early taste of racism I had to face. I had friends, but some of the older kids would call me ‘Blackie Sambo’. My mum would get annoyed, but I never wanted her to confront any of the children for fear that she would end up in an altercation with the other parents. It felt like we had no back-up. My mum told me to say ‘I might be Black but my name’s not Sambo’, which sort of worked.


When I cast my mind back to those bus trips to my nan and grandad’s for the weekend, I picture travelling into the sunshine. Leaving the estate and going there was like travelling to safety. My mum was – and is – amazing but she was a single mother living on a housing estate on the north-west edge of Bristol, miles from the city centre and her family. She had little money and two Brown babies in 1970s England. That inevitably took its toll on her. Going to stay with my nan and grandad, with our family all around, in a part of the city where there were kids who looked like me, meant everything.


I used to feel really down about travelling back on a Sunday evening. We’d sit at the bus stop at the top of Armoury Square on Stapleton Road, waiting for the number 23 bus to take us home. Nan would come and wait with us. I’d sit there, hoping that the bus wouldn’t come and then I could stay on for a bit longer. There was a slight dip on the other side of the Easton Way junction, which meant the top of the bus would appear first. I hated the sight of that. I hated the journey home, too. The bus weaved its way through the suburbia of Westbury, past streets of houses with driveways and gardens, bushes and hedges. I’d watch them glide past with my face pressed against the window. I wish we could live in one of those, I’d think. Then the bus would drive on and the landscape would change. We’d be back to the estate, the walk back from the bus stop in the dark, past the communal bin area, the all-too-familiar echoes of the entrance hall, the scratch of the key in the doorway, and home. My nan’s house was warm in more ways than one. Open our door in the winter, and the crackle of cold would rush out.


Yet I’m nostalgic for those childhood years, and the magical moments we shared. I remember Christmases fondly. I remember watching The Six Million Dollar Man with my mum, sleeping in her bed and watching our tiny black-and-white TV when I wasn’t well. Once at nursery, we read Mr Tickle, one of the Mr Men books, and the nursery had large cardboard cut-outs of the characters. In the book, there’s a train guard whom Mr Tickle tickles, and because he’s laughing so much, he can’t wave his flag to let the train go. It doesn’t sound like much, but they let me take the cut-out of the train guard home with me: I was so excited, bringing that back and having him standing there in my room.


I also had an early belief or faith. I had a sense of a God who knew me and cared for us, my family, from an early age. I think it’s one of the reasons I had such a sense of purpose despite our circumstances. At Bystock, we had met a French Catholic woman called Christina, whose daughter was also there, and we formed a connection. She became very important in our lives. Christina prayed for me every day and sent me hand-drawn pictures and letters telling me how special I was and that I was loved by Jesus. She also told me that guardian angels were looking out for me.


But even with this child’s faith, I still carried with me the challenges that my mum faced in bringing me up. We didn’t talk about it. My mum isn’t expressive in that way. And nor am I. But that has never stopped us being extremely close. We’re very tight. There’s a shared silence between us, filled by the memories of what we went through.


Even people you thought were on your side could try to take advantage of you. It wasn’t just the doctors telling my mum to abort the pregnancy or have me adopted. Once, members of the Labour Party were canvassing for a local election. A man stood in her doorway, looked at this white woman with two Brown children, judged her and propositioned her: ‘It looks like you could do with some help. Maybe I could help you, and you could help me in return?’ A vulnerable woman being put in that position by someone who was standing for public office.


Recently, while we had work done on our house, we stayed with Mum back in Easton, which was the house we ended up in after the Lawrence Weston flat. It stirred up all sorts of emotions. It’s funny being back in your old family home as an adult – everything seemed smaller and we seemed to bump into each other a lot more. But it felt good being there. And I felt lucky she was still living in the same place, that this connection to my past was still there.


I caught myself looking out of her bedroom window, remembering how far we’d come from Bystock to Lawrence Weston to Easton to mayor. I remembered staring out of the same window, just before my A Levels, watching my friends play outside. They were on the grass having a kickabout with a football while I was trying to revise. They’ve got a better life than me, I thought. They’re relaxing, playing football. It was the same feeling I’d get as a kid having to go to bed early and hearing the other kids still playing outside. I had these revision cards I’d made and had spread them out across the bed in front of me. It would have been so easy to pile them up and head outside to play.


I often tell my kids this story. I tell them how horrible that feeling is, that it feels terrible at the time, but later on, I was glad I had invested in myself. My friends outside might have been having fun, but their lives went in a different direction to mine. It wasn’t because I was smarter than them: far from it. They had a lot more ability than the course of their lives suggested. But many never reached their full potential.


When I got my first car, I drove it to my mum’s house in Easton. It was January 1996 and it was cold outside. I took her shopping – door to door – then I drove to Lawrence Weston, retracing the bus route we used to take, but this time safe in our warm car. We parked outside the flat where we used to live.


‘You won,’ I said to Mum while I was staying there. ‘You won.’ All her life, she’s had people looking down on her, disrespecting her, making judgements on who she is and what she has been through. It happened on a human level and on a class level, too. A lesser person might have crumbled. But her inner strength saw her through. Mum seems unable to comprehend this or take any credit, though. She told me she’d always prayed God would be a father to the fatherless and directs the credit accordingly. That is certainly part of the story, but she doesn’t recognize her strength. I’ve pointed out how many others might not have made it, never seen their children coming out OK. I have made the point several times since. ‘All those people who’ve disrespected you and people like us,’ I’ve told her, ‘and now you’ve got a daughter, my sister Dionne, living in Switzerland with two great kids who go skiing at the weekend, and a son with his own family who became mayor of your home city. How many people wouldn’t have wished that for their children? Look where we came from, and where we are now. That’s what you did.’









2.


Fighting Chance


I was eight when the first of the Bristol uprisings took place in April 1980. And on both that occasion and its successor in 1986 I was closer to the action than I should have been.


The 1980 uprising happened after a police raid on the Black and White Café on Grosvenor Road in St Pauls. The history of the Black and White Café is one of competing and overlapping narratives. In the story told by police, press and council it was associated with drugs and other criminal behaviour (and to be fair, some people in the Black community felt the same). But to others, it was a symbol of Black safety, power and defiance in the face of a politically and physically threatening city. For both these reasons, by the time it was shut down permanently in 2004, it had been raided by police more times than any other property in the country.* In 1980, the local community was reacting to Bristol’s hostility toward Black people and police abuse of the new ‘Sus’ laws, which gave them the powers to stop and search anyone they deemed suspicious – a power that led to Black youths being disproportionately targeted, abused and criminalized. On this occasion, a raid on the Black and White Café led to a confrontation with police.


The police were driven back by bottles and bricks. Over the next few hours, buildings and vehicles were set alight: over a hundred people were arrested, and scores injured on both sides (though to give some sense of the opinions at the time, The Daily Telegraph headline describing the Bristol events was ‘19 Police Hurt in Black Riot’). St Pauls was the first of three major riots that took place in the early 1980s, fuelled by ongoing racial discrimination and harassment faced by Black people. It was soon followed in 1981 by both Brixton in London and Toxteth in Liverpool.


By this time, we’d moved to Easton, having been offered a two-bedroom house one street away from Nan and Grandad’s. In 1980 I was in my first year at St Nicholas of Tolentino Junior School and I’d been thinking about my eighth birthday party. Rather than ringing people up, because so few of us had phones in those days, my mum was taking me around friends’ houses to invite them. We were walking back along Brook Road, heading for Grosvenor Green, which is at one end of Grosvenor Road, where the Black and White Café was.


It was the shouting we heard first – a roar of human voices. We knew immediately that something was going on. Then we saw the police cars and vans parked up. As we came out the bottom of Brook Road, a police car came tearing past. There was a glass bottle lying on the road and the police car went straight over it. I felt a sharp thump against my head, like a bee sting. A piece of the shattered bottle had flown up and hit me on the eyebrow. Looking back, I was incredibly lucky that the shard of glass didn’t land a few centimetres lower, and hit my eye. Mum grabbed me immediately, and we hurried home, in the opposite direction down Lower Ashley Road – away from the noise and the shouts and the smashes and the fighting.


That night, after I’d gone to bed, my dad came round. I remember listening to him and Mum talking about what had happened. I couldn’t hear everything, just snatches of the conversation, but from their tones, I knew it was serious. My dad came upstairs into my bedroom and switched the light on. Taking his thumbs, he started brushing them against my eyebrows, asking me where the glass had hit me. He went all over my head, checking for any scraps or shards that might still be there.


Six years later, there was a second riot in St Pauls. The underlying issues that had triggered the first uprising were still unresolved – unemployment, unfairness, racial abuse and hostility – and, once again, it was a police raid that was the starting point. This time, the disturbances went on for several nights. I was now fourteen and far more aware of what was going on. As I walked back from school with some friends that day, one of whom was my next-door neighbour, Dean, we could all sense the tension in the air. I felt more excited than frightened as I saw the rows of police vans lined up and a helicopter circling overhead. Together with another couple of friends, we decided to walk over to St Pauls to watch what was going on and ended up sitting on a wall at the junction of Grosvenor Road and St Nicholas’ Road, as the police numbers and the crowd built up. All the time, the buzz of voices was getting noisier, angrier. By this age, we had experienced enough racism to share the collective anger that was felt towards society and the police. We stayed there and waited while the atmosphere thickened, and then suddenly things began to kick off. As the first bottles began to fly, it felt like it was time to leave. When we got home, we turned on the news to see what was happening from the safety of our living rooms. The following morning at school it was the only thing anyone was talking about – and we could say, ‘Yeah, we were there.’


Like many Black kids, I had a complex relationship with the police growing up, with the balance being towards the negative. There were exceptions: lots of kids who grew up in my area would remember George Row and Ian Moore, white police officers who used to run a football club on a Saturday morning. Those two were decent guys. Sometimes we’d head along to Trinity Road Police Station, go to the front desk and ask if they were there. The officer would look at us with a mix of suspicion and hostility. Then George or Ian would come out, greet us and take us into the office for a drink. It felt like we were crossing a line, going to a place we either weren’t supposed to go or were simply not welcome. Overcoming that front-desk hostility was a small victory, my Virgil Tibbs moment. (I sometimes felt like that as mayor of Bristol, too. And it can be a good feeling.) Ian Moore didn’t just help run our local football club: he also went on to challenge the local professional teams about not recruiting Black players. The common belief was that one in particular had an unofficial no-Black-player policy. Ian persuaded the club to let him run his own scouting sessions in St Pauls – he made a real difference.


But Ian and George were the exceptions. I may still remember their kindness and support, but I will never forget the time when I was eight years old, and their fellow officers came to our house looking for my dad. He wasn’t there, but they barged their way in and turned the place over, supposedly trying to find him. They were rude and disrespectful to my mum and having not found my dad, they left the place in an absolute state for us to clear up. We went down to Trinity Road Police Station to complain. As we got there, we saw the two plain-clothes officers parked in a car in Trinity Walk, the lane next to the station – the two who’d just been to our house. They laughed at us as we walked past them into the station. Inside, things weren’t much better. They stared at me, then at Mum, an unmarried white woman, with her Brown children – she was carrying my little sister Dionne. Mum’s complaints were, of course, dismissed out of hand.


It sometimes felt as though the police were hostile towards us for the sake of it. There was a kids’ nightclub in town that I used to go to, Studios. It was on a Wednesday night and was for under-fifteens. It finished around ten, and then we’d get the number 48 or 49 bus from the city centre back to Stapleton Road and home. These were the Black kids’ buses because that’s where we lived. One night, as the bus reached Old Market, it was pulled over and a group of police officers got on, again plain-clothes officers, not uniformed. One of them started speaking in a mock-Jamaican patois accent, trying to wind everybody up. I don’t think he was looking for anyone in particular. He just wanted to get a rise out of us. He started kissing his teeth in a really exaggerated fashion. We stared back at him in silence. That’s all we had. We couldn’t do anything, and he knew it. Anyone who reacted would have been arrested. It was pure provocation.


On another night, I was heading home from Studios with Dean and another school friend. It was about 10 p.m. and we were walking through Broadmead Shopping Centre when we saw a commotion up ahead. Heaps of clothes were spread out across the precinct and kids were running in and out of a shop. It turned out that someone had been messing about and leaned on the door of a shop called Citizens’ Leisure, only to discover that a member of staff had forgotten to close it. After that, it was a free-for-all – everyone was taking stuff. This was at a time when ski jackets were all the rage: there was a pile of yellow-and-white Pierre Cardin ski coats scattered across the floor. One of my mates grabbed one, but almost as soon as he did, a bigger kid snatched it off him. ‘I’ll take that,’ he said. We walked on.


We didn’t take anything else. I was too nervous to grab anything, though in my head I was cursing myself. Man, I should’ve got some stuff. I could have picked this, grabbed that. That was only natural – it was free gear, right? As we headed off, we had to cross a footbridge over the road. Just before we got there, this kid ran past us, carrying a handful of clothes that he’d taken. He was being chased by the police. As he climbed up the steps and was halfway over the bridge, a second group of officers came up the other side. He was trapped in the middle and had no choice but to hand himself in.


We watched this scene play out. That was lucky, I thought. If we had taken something, that could have been us. But before we could get any further, an unmarked police car rolled up behind us and flicked its headlights on full beam. We stood blinking in the glare as a guy climbed out, a plain-clothes officer again.


‘All right boys?’ he said. ‘What are you up to?’


‘Going home,’ I replied, and started to explain where we’d been. But the police officer cut me off.


‘Do you mind getting in the car?’ he asked. It sounded more like an order than a question. ‘It’s OK,’ he reassured us. ‘You’re not being arrested. We just want to ask you some questions.’ You do what you’re told when you’re a thirteen-year-old interacting with the police, right? So we got in the car and were driven to Bridewell Station. There we were taken up to the front desk. The sergeant who was stood behind it looked at us and asked, ‘Do you know why you’ve been arrested?’


‘We haven’t been arrested,’ I said.


I looked at the officer who’d brought us in. He just stared back at us and shrugged.


‘Yes, you have,’ the sergeant said, laughing. Before we knew what was happening, we were taken down and put into the cells. It turned out we weren’t the only ones who had been picked up. The police had obviously gone round, sweeping up everyone they could find. Or, more specifically, everyone they could find who was Black.


It was a strange feeling, being down in the cells. Part of me felt emboldened: we knew we were in the right; we had done nothing wrong. If nothing else, at least we’d get off school tomorrow, I thought. To be honest, we were also a little excited. It would make a great story. At a time when the lines of separation between the Black community and the police were clear – if occasionally blurry in places – a night in the cells wouldn’t do our image any harm. Through the cell door, we were able to hear the other kids coming and going, and could hear people shouting. We knew several of those coming in, including some who had well-earned reputations, and others who didn’t. We were taken off to be interviewed in turn: in our thirteen-year-old minds, there wasn’t anything to worry about because we hadn’t done anything. Much to the officers’ frustration, there was simply no evidence and we spent much of the interview laughing because it was so ridiculous. Looking back, we were lucky. We’d already been arrested when we’d been told we hadn’t been. It wouldn’t have taken much for the police to pull out some of the clothes and claim we’d stolen them. As it was, we were sent back down to the cells again.


Back home, my mum was frantic with worry. It had gone one in the morning, and I still wasn’t back. She later told me she’d gone out and found a police officer on the street, explaining I hadn’t come home. She gave them my name. The officer checked in with the station, but they denied I was there: ‘No, we don’t know where he is.’


My mum rang the pastor of our church – a lovely guy called Andy Paget. It was the middle of the night but that’s the pastor’s life – they’re always on call. Andy was an educated white man and the police took him more seriously: he found out that I’d been taken to Bridewell Police Station and came to collect me in his car. I felt safe when Andy arrived: I had a respectable white man coming to pick me and my friends up. Even by the age of thirteen, I knew my association with Andy would assure the police I was OK, would elevate me in their eyes. I had someone who could talk and stand up to these guys (and they were all men) and be heard in a way a Black advocate couldn’t. It was a real-life version of Chris Rock’s famous sketch in which he advises Black people to travel with a white friend as the best defence against getting beaten up by the police.


The next day at school, everyone knew what had happened. Man, you got arrested. They all wanted to know what it had been like in the police station. One kid said to me, ‘You think you’re bad now, don’t you?’ He had his finger on a bit of truth there. I didn’t want to be in trouble, but at that time, in a city that sometimes seemed to despise us, coming into conflict with the city’s institutions, in whatever way it had happened, and coming out on top, felt like doing my bit.
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